
Page 1  CC4/3/12 
 

CITY OF VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 
APRIL 3, 2012  9:30 A.M. 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 
CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

A. Roll Call 
 
Mayor Pilar Turner, present; Vice Mayor Craig Fletcher, present; Councilmember Jay 
Kramer, present; Councilmember Tracy Carroll, present and Councilmember Richard 
Winger, present  Also Present:  James O’Connor, City Manager; Wayne Coment, Acting 
City Attorney and Tammy Vock, City Clerk 
 

B. Invocation 
 
Minister Steve James of Vero Christian Church gave the invocation. 
 

C. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Mayor Turner led the Council and the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag. 
 
2.         PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
 

A. Agenda Additions, Deletions, and Adoption 
 
Mr. Winger asked that discussion of the lien being placed on 318 Conn Way be added to 
the agenda. 
 
Mr. Kramer made a motion to adopt the agenda as amended.  Mrs. Carroll seconded the 
motion and it passed unanimously. 
 

B. Proclamations 
 
1. Paralyzed Veterans of America Awareness Month 
2. National Telcommunicators’ Week – April 8-14, 2012 
3. A Day of Service – April 28, 2012 

 
Mayor Turner read and presented the proclamations. 
 

C. Public Comment 
 
Ms. Janine Harris, Community Relations Manager for Communities for Lifetime, at the 
Florida Department of Elder Affairs, was at today’s meeting to ask the City Council to do 
a Proclamation or Resolution in support for communities for lifetime.  She explained that 



Page 2  CC4/3/12 
 

they work with communities around the State to provide technical assistance to move 
priorities forward for baby boomers and for the current senior population. 
 
Mayor Turner asked if this Resolution was just to support the efforts. 
 
Ms. Harris explained that it was to support the efforts, but it also means that they would 
work with the community to engage all of their baby boom generation and senior 
population in their program and services.  She said that there is no cost to participate and 
they will move forward with whatever this community decides is their priorities.  She 
said that it involves someone from the City to serve as the coordinator and liaison before 
their Department and the City so that they can provide the necessary resources. 
 
Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager, requested that Ms. Harris send them a sample 
Resolution that they could use and they will place it on the agenda for Council 
consideration. 
 
Mayor Turner agreed that this was an area that they needed to be focusing more attention 
on as their community ages. 
 
Mr. O’Connor did not see any problem with having a coordinator from the City work 
with the agency. 
 
Mr. Joseph Guffanti brought up the Ordinance that was on the Council agenda 
concerning the 25 mile per hour (mph) speed limit.  He said that it seems the fanatics are 
certainly in control and that 25 mph was fast when there were dirt roads.  He said that it is 
a shame that Council gets involved with fanatics and social paths of the community that 
ask for these ridiculous things. He brought up that he was making an inquiry into the 
City’s investments and he asked the City Manager to provide him with communication 
that is around for Cutwater Asset Management and he was not provided with anything.  
He is to conclude that the City Clerk withheld information, which did not happen, so the 
other reason could be is that there is none.  He did not know about the other millions of 
dollars in the hands of various companies, firms, etc., but noone in the City of Vero 
Beach has provided the Council or the Finance Commission with any analysis/opinion of 
what Cutwater Asset Management and probably the other firms are doing with the City’s 
money and how well they have been doing.  He has contacted some professionals that 
deal with these sort of matters and by September he will come out with an analysis using 
their help for the one hundred and forty million dollars that is invested.  Mr. Guffanti 
mentioned that at one of these meetings he heard that a gully was going to be filled in at 
the north end of where the ballpark is (Bob Summer’s Park).  He walked over to this area 
and saw crabs, fish, etc., in this gully.  He discussed this with City staff and understands 
that there is a problem with standing water and staff indicated to him that they were 
seeking a less costly remedy then filling in the gully.  He said one of the reasons that 
people come to Florida is because of the nature.  He heard the Police Chief talking about 
doing something that would save the City $400.00.  He was told that this project would 
cost more than $10,000 to fill this gully in, which is a substantial amount of money.  He 



Page 3  CC4/3/12 
 

said here is the Police Chief trying to save the City $400.00 and they are spending more 
than $10,000 to fill in a gully, which he feels is a total waste of money.    
 

D. Adoption of Consent Agenda 
 
1. Regular City Council Minutes – March 20, 2012 
2. Special Call City Council Minutes – March 15, 2012 
3.  License Agreement #2012-LA-0195 – William & Robin DesRosiers – 

20 Sea Horse Lane 
4. Request for Approval of Alcohol at Royal Palm Pointe Fountain area 

for Wedding Reception – December 28, 2012 
5. Ocean Drive Sidewalk – COVB Public Works Project No. 2010-16 
6. 15th Street Sidewalk (Charles Park Feeder Route) – COVB Project 

No. 2011-12 
  
Mrs. Carroll made a motion to adopt the consent agenda.  Mr. Fletcher seconded the 
motion and it passed unanimously. 
 
3.        PUBLIC HEARINGS      
 
A) An Ordinance of the City of Vero Beach, Florida, amending those sections of 

the Code of the City of Vero Beach related to certain Powers and Duties of 
the City of Vero Beach Board of Adjustment to reassign such Powers and 
Duties to the City of Vero Beach Planning and Zoning Board; amending 
certain related provisions for Clarification and Consistency within the Code; 
Providing for Transition; Providing for Conflict and Severability; Providing 
for an Effective Date. – Requested by the City Council 

 
The City Clerk read the Ordinance by title only. 
 
Mayor Turner opened and closed the public hearing at 9:54 a.m., with no one wishing to 
be heard. 
 
Mr. Fletcher made a motion to approve the Ordinance.  Mrs. Carroll seconded the 
motion. 
 
Mr. Winger asked staff to explain to him what the Ordinance entails. 
 
Mr. Wayne Coment, Acting City Attorney, explained that the Ordinance transfers the 
remaining duties of the Board of Adjustment over to the Planning and Zoning Board. 
 
The Clerk polled the Council and the motion passed 5-0 with Mr. Winger voting yes, Mr. 
Kramer yes, Mrs. Carroll yes, Mr. Fletcher yes, and Mayor Turner yes. 
 
4.        RESOLUTIONS FOR ADOPTION WITHOUT PUBLIC HEARING   
 



Page 4  CC4/3/12 
 

None 
 
5.       FIRST READINGS BY TITLE FOR ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS    
          THAT REQUIRE A FUTURE PUBLIC HEARING 
 
A) An Ordinance of the City of Vero Beach, Florida, amending the Code of the 

City of Vero Beach to create a new Section 74-43, Residential Speed Limit, to 
establish a Maximum Speed Limit of 25 Miles Per Hour for all Vehicles in 
Residential Districts within the City; Providing for Implementation and 
Enforcement; Providing for Conflict and Severability; and Providing an 
Effective Date. – Requested by the Engineering Department 

 
The City Clerk read the Ordinance by title only. 
 
Mr. O’Connor clarified that he receives a lot of requests to reduce speed limits in 
neighborhoods and it cost the City about $1,200 to do the polling.  By passing this 
Ordinance it would allow them to forego that process and place a 25 mph speed limit in 
their neighborhoods and residential streets.  He said reducing the speed limit does reduce 
fatalities and reduces their cost because typically everyone wants a slower speed in their 
neighborhood. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked what the current speed limit within the residential areas was. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that it is 30 mph. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked what about areas, such as Osceola Park and Original Town, where 
there are a number of Churches and municipal uses with residential comingled in the 
area.  What would the speed limit be in these areas.   
 
Mr. O’Connor said that it is also 30 mph in that area. He explained that speed limits are 
designated by State Statutes unless posted otherwise.   
 
Mrs. Carroll commented that so what she is hearing is that members of the community 
are coming forward and saying that they want the speed limit in their neighborhoods 
reduced and at the present time the City is having to pay $1,200 for the polling required 
by their current rules. 
 
Mr. O’Connor told Mrs. Carroll that was correct and that they have yet to have anyone 
protest the 25 mph speed limit. 
 
Mrs. Carroll recalled that since she has been on Council that they have probably had four 
or five different neighborhoods come forward and make this request.  Mr. O’Connor told 
her that was correct.  Mrs. Carroll then asked Mr. O’Connor if anyone that he is aware of 
asking for a speed reduction has been a fanatic or a sociopath.  Mr. O’Connor replied no. 
 



Page 5  CC4/3/12 
 

Mr. Kramer asked if they set all the neighborhoods at 25 mph and there is a 
neighborhood that doesn’t agree with the 25 mph and wants it back to 30 mph, can that 
be done. 
 
Mr. O’Connor answered yes.  The neighborhood could petition them to go back to the 30 
mph speed limit. 
 
Mrs. Carroll noted that she has kept information that she has received from people about 
traffic reductions and people wanting slower speeds in their neighborhoods and she 
thinks that they are moving in the right direction.  She asked Mr. Coment if there are 
many other municipalities that he is aware of that do have speed limits of 25 mph in their 
residential neighborhoods. 
 
Mr. Coment commented that this is very common in other cities.  He then noted a 
correction in the Ordinance.  It should read therefore be it “ordained” instead of 
“resolved.”  He said that Ft. Pierce has a speed limit in their residential neighborhoods of 
25 mph. 
 
Mrs. Carroll wanted to make it clear that this would not be affecting A1A or Route 60 
(thoroughfares) in any way throughout the City. 
 
Mr. Coment said not that he is aware of. 
 
Mr. O’Connor added that they do not anticipate any changes to the major arteries, except 
for maybe Route 60 going through their downtown area.   
 
Mrs. Carroll made a motion to approve the Ordinance on first reading and set the public 
hearing for April 17, 2012.  Mr. Kramer seconded the motion and it passed 5-0 with Mr. 
Winger voting yes, Mr. Kramer yes, Mrs. Carroll yes, Mr. Fletcher yes, and Mayor 
Turner yes. 
 
6.       CITY CLERK’S MATTERS       
 
A) Opening on the Airport Commission 
 
Mrs. Tammy Vock, City Clerk, reported that there is an opening on the Airport 
Commission.  She said that currently Melvin Wood serves as the Alternate #1 member 
and would like to be moved up to a full member.  If this is done Mr. Gary Embrey who 
currently serves as Alternate #2 on the Commission would like to be moved up to 
Alternate #1, which will leave an Alternate #2 position open on the Airport Commission. 
 
Mr. Kramer made a motion to move Mr. Wood up to a full member and move Mr. 
Embrey up to Alternate #1.  Mrs. Carroll seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 
 



Page 6  CC4/3/12 
 

The Council instructed the Clerk to hold an applicant interview session once she receives 
enough applications for some of the openings that they have on all of their 
Boards/Commissions. 
 
It was noted that not all the applicants who applied to be on the Airport Commission have 
been interviewed by the City Council. 
 
7.       CITY MANAGER’S MATTERS 
 
A) Appointment of Police Chief 
 
The City Clerk swore in Mr. David Currey as the new Police Chief. 
 
B) Award of Contract to Jacquin & Sons to Construct an Operations Facility 

and Hangar (Bid No. 330-11-CSS) 
 
Mr. Eric Menger, Airport Director, reported that this project is partially funded by FEMA 
because of anticipated funds from the destruction of three hangars at Airport North 
during Hurricanes Frances and Jeanne in 2004.  FEMA approved the City’s request to 
construct the Operations Facility and two hangars as an alternate project in 2005 and the 
budget was approved in 2007.  On September 15, 2010, the FDOT issued a Joint 
Participation Agreement to help fund the cost of constructing the new Operations Facility 
and Hangars.  The project cost is estimated to be $2,400,000 with FDOT sharing 
$1,600,000, FEMA sharing $400,000 and the Airport sharing $400,000.  There will be no 
General Fund monies involved in this project.  Mr. Menger said that their existing facility 
did survive the last hurricane, but needs to be replaced and there is a need for some 
fencing so they will be looking at using some of this money for a security project.  He 
recommended approval to award the contract to Jacquin & Sons, who is the low bidder 
for the project. 
 
Mayor Turner thanked Mr. Menger for providing them with a cost analysis.  She noted 
that there were 13 bidders for this project.  She asked if they would be requiring a bond 
from the firm that has been chosen. 
 
Mr. Menger answered yes. 
 
Mrs. Carroll mentioned that if this project goes through they will now have an addition of 
three hangars for utilization and rental at the Airport.  She asked if all the hangars were 
presently occupied. 
 
Mr. Menger stated that in the smaller hangars they are about 70% filled and with the 
larger hangars they are 100% filled.  He does feel once they build some of the larger 
hangars they can be rented. 
 



Page 7  CC4/3/12 
 

Mrs. Carroll heard Mr. Menger say that $400,000 of this project will come from Airport 
funds.  She asked him to explain to the public how this money does not come from tax 
dollars. 
 
Mr. Menger stated that the Airport is an Enterprise Fund, so they operate as a business 
with the help of Federal and State grants.  They use Airport revenues created from leasing 
of land of property located at the Airport to offset the portion of the capital projects that 
they need to match from the Federal and State grants.  He said that none of this money 
comes from the General Fund because the Airport does not receive ad valorem taxes. 
 
Mrs. Carroll mentioned the security fence and recalled that they had discussions at budget 
time that there is a large line item for Police security at the Airport.  She asked if this 
security fence will alleviate some of the need for the transfer to the Police budget from 
Airport funds. 
 
Mr. Menger said that they are really not connected.  The fence would be monitored by 
Airport staff. 
 
Mrs. Carroll was concerned that if these plans were put together back in 2008 that they 
have been modified to meet the new building codes that have been put into effect.  Mr. 
Menger assured her that they have. 
 
Mr. Kramer made a motion to approve the Award of Contract to Jacquin & Sons to 
construct an operations facility and hangars (bid no. 330-11-CSS).  Mr. Winger seconded 
the motion and it passed unanimously. 
 
C) Water/Wastewater Service for County Residents 
 
Mr. O’Connor reported that he received a letter from Mr. Joe Baird, County 
Administrator, concerning water/wastewater service for County residents (please see 
attached).  The County has notified the City that it does not intend to renew the water or 
wastewater franchises when they expire in March 2017.  Mr. Baird is asking in this letter  
whether the City will agree and cooperate in the County’s efforts to serve its own 
residents starting in 2017, or whether the City will object to and oppose such action.  Mr. 
O’Connor recommended that they not object to the termination of the franchise 
agreement.  He feels that it is very well documented as to what the terms and conditions 
are.  However, at the same time he thinks that they would have to negotiate in good faith 
because they do have some assets that would have to be either purchased or leased.  He 
would enter into discussions based on that there will be a return of investments made 
back to the City.  They have leased these facilities for over 20 years and have quite an 
investment in them.  There is a territorial agreement that is still active and he thinks adds 
value and is a concern with the customers.  He said that if Council does not object, what 
he would like to do is prepare a letter that he would send to each Councilmember asking 
for their comments and then he would place this item on the April 17th agenda.   
 
Mr. Winger asked approximately how much revenue is coming out of South Beach. 



Page 8  CC4/3/12 
 

 
Mr. O’Connor answered about three million dollars. 
 
Mr. Winger then asked Mr. O’Connor if it was correct that there is very little reuse water 
there.  Mr. O’Connor told him that was correct.  Mr. Winger continued by saying that the 
major asset value in South Beach is sewer rather than potable water.  Mr. O’Connor said 
that is correct.  He said the City purchased those water assets from the Hutchinson Farms 
Authority. 
 
Mr. Winger reported that on May 5, 1987 there was a long trail of events where the City 
at one time was agreeable to such a transaction and the County said that they were not 
capable of providing the service and granted it to us as a service area with no cancellation 
clause in the agreement. He said one of the things that you have to consider is the service 
area has value to it because it is an on-going profitable business.  He would object to 
anything that does not reward the City for both the tangible value of the assets, as well as 
the on-going business.  He also thinks that they need to look at the history of this 
particular area.  He said that this area would not have had water and sewer and not been 
able to develop without the City stepping in repeatedly.  He thinks it is important that the 
City taxpayers are treated fairly.  He then asked Mr. O’Connor if they cancel the 
franchise agreement they still own the assets and they still have the service agreements, 
what the effect would this have. 
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that the only thing that he knows in cancelling the franchise 
agreement, what it would do is drop the six-percent franchise fee that is in the agreement.  
The City has an obligation to continue service. 
 
Mr. Winger said so what would happen is the rates charged to the customers in South 
Beach would go down by six percent because the franchise fee would no longer be 
collected. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that probably would be the effect. 
 
Mr. Winger suggested to Council that either the current Transactional Attorney’s working 
for them or that they hire an attorney to look at this matter so that if they do enter into 
negotiations they understand what they are dealing with. 
 
Mayor Turner asked should they allow this franchise agreement to expire, what would the 
impact be on their Water and Sewer Department, particularly their Waste Water Plant. 
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that they are a three million dollar customer, but it is important 
to know that when they enter into negotiations that there probably will be an effort made 
to utilize existing lines as opposed to making capital investments.  He said right now the 
City has the interface and there would have to be another capital investment made in 
order to reroute water and wastewater in this particular case.  He said if they are looking 
at this from a cost benefit analysis then some sort of contractual agreement will probably 
be done.  



Page 9  CC4/3/12 
 

 
Mr. Winger asked if it was true that in some cases they actually own all the way to the 
meters at the house.  
 
Mr. O’Connor said yes.  He said that when they purchased the Hutchinson Farms Utilities 
they purchased a lot of assets. 
 
Mr. Winger said then if the County was to take this over, they could have to replace the 
meters, but the pipes would have to be used. 
 
Mr. O’Connor agreed and explained that by State law you cannot run parallel lines and he 
didn’t think anyone wanted to see an investment like that take place.  He believes that it 
would all be down to negotiations as to how they look at the assets and what a practical 
solution to the problem is.  He does not think that anyone is contesting the ownership of 
the assets.      
 
Mayor Turner asked Mr. O’Connor if he has had any direct conversation with Mr. Baird 
concerning this letter. 
 
Mr. O’Connor answered no. 
 
Mayor Turner was a little caught up with the idea that Mr. Baird was asking for 
commitment from this Council for something that will happen in 2017.   
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that if this is going to take place then they need to at least start 
talking about it.  He said that the change could be pretty detailed. 
 
Mr. Kramer asked Mr. O’Connor that with Indian River Shores are they looking at 
having County rates.  Mr. O’Connor answered yes.  Mr. Kramer wondered if they could 
do the same thing for South Beach.  Mr. O’Connor explained that once they do the 
programming and the software vendor has been contacted, they don’t think that it is 
going to be a major issue.  Mr. Kramer said then for South Beach their best deal would be 
having County rates and not signing the franchise agreement, which would mean that 
they would also get a six percent discount. 
 
Mr. Winger did believe that there was a lot of potable water used in South Beach for 
irrigation.  He said so those people irrigating with potable water what would happen is if 
they were served by the County or if the City used the County rates they would face a 
large increase in their water bills. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that is correct and he thought this is also part of Indian River Shores 
discussion.  He said that when you change rate structures there will be some greater than 
others, one way or the other, no matter how you do it.  He said that the key is what they 
perceive as beneficial, which would be more of a policy decision than anything else.   
 



Page 10  CC4/3/12 
 

Mrs. Carroll recalled that they received some documentation a number of months ago in 
terms of the territorial agreement and a legal opinion on the territorial agreement. 
 
Mr. Coment expressed that the territorial agreement does not have an expiration date or 
have much provision for termination.  One of the options would be is that they could 
provide a wholesale service to the County. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked historically around the State have there been specific municipalities 
having territorial agreement and chosen to go off and do their own thing and be 
successful. 
 
Mr. Coment stated that he has not researched that.  He said that when it comes to water 
and sewer there are specific Statutes that govern the sale of systems.  When they are just 
talking about part of a system he would have to look and see if that even comes into play.  
He said that the biggest thing with the franchise agreement is the County’s magnesium to 
get their six percent. 
 
Mr. O’Connor added that they do have a legal opinion from Gray Robinson and Thomas 
Cloud dated April 18, 2011. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked what percentage of the entire water sewer system is comprised of the 
South Beach customers. 
 
Mr. O’Connor answered about 20%. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked if the County is successful in taking this volume away from their 
Enterprise Fund, how will that affect the profitability of the entire system. 
 
Mr. O’Connor felt that the reduction in expenditures could be justified.  He said that it 
would be a challenge to meet the three million dollars. 
 
Mrs. Carroll mentioned that their facility was upgraded to meet the capacity, so if this 
happens they would end up with excess capacity. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said yes that they would.  He said an option would be to move the Plant, 
which would reduce capacity.  He said another option would be to contract with someone 
else to treat their wastewater.  He said that in this particular case there will be some major 
capital expenditures on somebody’s part unless they use the existing facilities.  If the City 
was to provide wholesale treatment and wholesale water they would still have a revenue 
stream and the County would provide the meters so the customers would become County 
customers. 
 
Mr. Winger referred to Florida Statute 153.03(1)(1), which states that no County should 
furnish the facilities provided by this Chapter to any property already being furnished like 
facilities by any municipality without the expressed consent of the Council/Commission 
or body having general legislative authority in the government of such municipality.  



Page 11  CC4/3/12 
 

 
Mr. O’Connor reiterated that his recommendation would be that he would prepare a 
document and send that out to Council and they can give the Clerk their feedback and 
hopefully they will have a letter that they can send out after their next meeting. 
 
Mr. Fletcher made a motion to authorize the City Manager to go into negotiations with 
the County.  Mr. Winger seconded the motion. 
 
Mrs. Carroll said that she would not agree with that until they had some financials to 
show them exactly what the ramifications are to the City and to the budget, as well as to 
the Enterprise Funds that are turned over to the general budget each year from water and 
sewer and what the ramifications will be of this action before they make any motions.  
She asked this same question when the County came forward with a proposal to buy the 
system.  She recalled that she asked over and over what are the ramifications to losing the 
South County and the ramifications to losing the Indian River Shores customers.  She 
said that decisions were made without seeing all the numbers.  So she will not vote on 
any of this until she sees the numbers. 
 
Mr. Fletcher told Mrs. Carroll that would be the direct product of these negotiations. 
 
Mayor Turner also felt that they needed to go in with some numbers that they all agree 
on. 
 
Mr. O’Connor stated that it is going to be hard to put a number on the risk because there 
are assets that they can sell and it is determined that you cannot invest capital. 
 
Mrs. Carroll wanted to see those various scenarios and documentation as to what the 
financial impact would be on the various scenarios then they would have better tools to 
enter into the negotiation with.  
 
Mayor Turner asked Mr. Fletcher if he would amend his motion to say “go into 
discussions” as opposed to the word negotiate. 
 
Mr. Fletcher amended his motion to say that they authorize the City Manager to go into 
open discussions with the County.  Mr. Winger seconded the amendment to the motion.  
 
Mr. Kramer was still thinking about the year 2017 and said that this could be just an 
exercise in futility.  
 
Mr. Fletcher said that they need to find out if it is or is not. 
 
The motion passed 4-1 with Mrs. Carroll voting no. 
 
Mr. O’Connor reported that they received the latest sales agreement from FPL and it is on 
the website.  They are still moving forward with the sales agreement and two major 
components of the sales agreement that is going to be very critical is FMPA and OUC.  



Page 12  CC4/3/12 
 

They have a meeting coming up with FMPA on April 16th and with OUC they are still 
working on a proposal.    
 
Mr. Winger commented that they received a document from FPL to move this forward.  
He said what they are doing now is giving a response back to them.  Then in time they 
will either give us a response back and we potentially will give them a response back.  He 
wanted the public to understand the importance of this document which hinges on OUC 
and FMPA.  He also wanted the public to know that this is not the final document, but a 
work in progress. 
 
Mr. O’Connor added that there are many elements in that document and those terms and 
conditions will be negotiated over time.  He said through their TA they are trying to limit 
their risk and exposure and FPL is doing the same thing.  He said one of the things that 
Council did by action was extend the Letter of Intent for six months, which gives them 
that open window to get a better feel from OUC and FMPA and that will be a 
determining factor as to what risk they will take in the City.  He felt that it would 
probably be about three or four months until they have a sales agreement where both 
parties can bring it before their governing boards.   
 
Mrs. Carroll recalled that they received a letter from someone questioning the addition of 
fluoride in their water system and that there could be some cost savings in discontinuing 
that. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that it costs approximately $15,000 to have fluoride put in their water.  
He said that it is an optional service that is provided.  He said at one time there were a lot 
of dentists pushing to have fluoride in the water.  He said that the amount of fluoride is 
heavily regulated and there would be a savings if Council wanted to proceed in that 
direction. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked him to get them some information on that and if it is consistent with 
other areas. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked for an update on the Youth Sailing Foundation and the utilization of 
City property. 
 
Mr. O’Connor reported that there is an empty building over by the Water Plant and it is 
on the canal so the Youth Sailing Foundation has taken a liking to this facility.  He said 
that some things have to be worked out, such as the limited access, and that the City does 
not want to spend money on the building.  He said that originally it was scheduled to be 
demolished.  The Youth Sailing Foundation would be responsible for paying enough rent 
to cover the utilities (electric and water).  This item will be coming before Council at one 
of their future meetings.   
   
8.       CITY ATTORNEY’S MATTERS 
 
None 



Page 13  CC4/3/12 
 

 
9.       CITY COUNCIL MATTERS 
 

A. Old Business 
 
1. Vero Beach Downtown Economic Development Zone – Requested by 

Councilmember Jay Kramer 
 
Mr. Kramer presented the draft Ordinance for the Economic Development Zone that he 
has been working on.  He said that the City Attorney’s office have told him that they 
probably will have an Ordinance ready for first reading at their first Council meeting in 
May. 
 
Mr. Coment added that what they are trying to do is keep from creating a Community 
Redevelopment Agency (CRA), because they would come in under all kinds of rules and 
reporting.  By creating this zone, it will allow reinvestment in the infrastructure capital 
items in that area to help improve and attract more businesses.  The idea will be put out 
there to other business owners saying that they want to be in this area because it will 
show how the City supports them and wants to improve the area.  This works on the 
concept of the tax increment financing type situation, which would be a gage to what 
would be put into a fund to pay for the improvements for the zone.   
 
Mrs. Carroll asked Mr. Kramer if right now he was only looking at the downtown core 
area. 
 
Mr. Kramer told her that was correct. 
 
Mrs. Carroll commented that their Vision Plan lists a number of other core business areas 
within the community, such as Royal Palm Pointe, Miracle Mile and the Beachside area.  
She asked if this process could be replicated throughout the City in these other areas who 
could also create their own financing districts. 
 
Mr. Coment answered yes.  He said that each zone would be set up by Resolution for 
their core area.  He said that they would have to create a base tax year to help determine 
the tax increment.  A Committee would probably have to be created to help in developing 
the plan and moving forward with what they want to fund. 
 
Mrs. Carroll recalled that she recently attended a Florida League of Cities seminar and 
realized that this has become a utilized taxing mechanism for cities in order to help with 
small areas.  She said that some of the funds could be used for beautification of a 
downtown area, parking improvements, etc.  She thought that this was a great idea and 
thanked Mr. Kramer for bringing it forward to them. 
 
Mayor Turner agreed with the concept, but had some concerns for voting for something 
that has so many blanks.  She said that when this comes back before them she would like 
it directed to one specific area. 



Page 14  CC4/3/12 
 

 
Mr. Winger asked Mr. Coment or Mr. Kramer to give a brief overview on how this will 
work. 
 
Mr. Coment explained that this will not affect an amount of ad valorem tax that a 
property owner would pay, but what it does is establish the base where this will be the 
base line for the value of the property and then as the assessed value goes up the 
incremental increase in the ad valorem tax would go into the City’s coffers, but it would 
be transferred to a fund for improvements.   
 
Mr. O’Connor expressed that they are doing this under Home Rule.  It is not a CRA so 
they are not creating another bureaucracy.  Projects would have to be approved by the 
City that are funded through this mechanism.   
 
Mrs. Carroll asked if there was a community board or some type of entity that would 
make recommendations for the utilization of the funds. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that they now have the Main Street group who are represented by 
both the downtown property and business owners. 
 
Mr. Coment added that when Council creates one of these advisory boards they will 
come under the Sunshine Law. 
 
Mr. Kramer just wanted a consensus from Council to move this forward.  Council was in 
favor of doing that. 
 
Mr. Winger asked Mr. O’Connor and Mr. Coment if the lien has been placed on 318 
Conn Way. 
 
Mr. Coment explained that all he is waiting for is the final bills from the Public Work’s 
Department.  Once he receives them he will take them and produce a Lien Resolution, 
which will come before Council.  Once the Resolution is adopted it is recorded in the 
public records. 
 

B. New Business 
 
1. Performance Objectives for Charter Officers – Requested by Mayor Pilar 

Turner 
 
Mayor Turner stated that she has made an attempt to give Council some suggestions on 
Performance Objectives for their City Attorney and City Clerk. 
 
Mr. Kramer thanked Mrs. Turner for her benchmarking efforts and he also wants to see 
the benchmarking for the Clerks and City Attorney’s office. 
 



Page 15  CC4/3/12 
 

Mr. O’Connor hoped to have the results of the benchmarking process for the smaller 
departments in within the next thirty days, which includes the City Clerk’s office and the 
City Attorney’s office. 
 
Mrs. Carroll said in terms of the data that they received, that some of it was not correct 
based on the 2010 census.  She asked if the numbers have been relooked at to see where 
the decreases of percentages may have occurred. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that the Planning and Development Department has provided them 
with the 2010 population numbers and they have been applied. 
 
Mrs. Carroll requested to receive new packets based on the population data determined a 
couple of years ago. 
 
Mr. Winger felt that the City Manager needed to be in this process also.   
 
Mayor Turner explained to Mr. Winger that when they hired Mr. O’Connor that they did 
do Performance Objectives at that time.  She agreed that at budget time it will need to be 
reviewed again. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked Mayor Turner if she was planning on doing performance reviews 
utilizing these objectives. 
 
Mayor Turner said that is the purpose of them.  She was open to any additions, deletions, 
suggestions to the objectives that she has come up with.  She wanted to add to the City 
Clerk’s objectives that all documents are properly executed. 
 
Mrs. Carroll added as an objective that both the City Attorney’s office and the City 
Clerk’s office have some aspect of training on a yearly basis to keep up with what is 
going on with their legislature and how that impacts municipalities.  She will work on the 
wording. 
 
Mayor Turner asked Mrs. Vock and Mr. Coment if they had any comments. 
 
Mrs. Vock stated that these are objectives that she strives in accomplishing every day.  
The biggest challenge would be in cutting her budget by 15%. 
 
Mr. Coment will reserve his comments until he finishes his benchmarking with the other 
cities. 
 
Mayor Turner agreed that it was critical to finish the benchmarking process. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked Mr. O’Connor if he would be utilizing the benchmarking data to make 
suggestions such as this to the individual departments. 
 



Page 16  CC4/3/12 
 

Mr. O’Connor answered yes and said that is the value of the benchmarking that the 
individual department sees what some of those goals will be.  
 
Mayor Turner stated that when the benchmarking data is available then she will bring 
back these objectives for approval by Council. 
 
10. INDIVIDUAL COUNCILMEMBERS’ MATTERS 
 

A. Mayor Pilar Turner’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mayor Turner reported that she attended the Treasure Coast League of Cities meeting and 
she was elected to serve as their representative on the Board for the Florida League of 
Cities and she also participated in the workshop held by FMPA.  
 
Mayor Turner mentioned that she has met with different representatives of some of the 
different pest control companies in the area about them not being allowed to use the 
water at the Water Plant (discussion that took place at the last Council meeting).  She has 
asked the City Manager to meet with these pest control companies to come up with some 
solution that would help them in this matter. 
 
Mr. O’Connor had no problem doing that.  He will probably be suggesting an annual fee 
that they would pay in order to continue using the water. 
 
Mrs. Carroll had no idea when they were discussing this item at their last meeting that 
there were so many small businesses from the community utilizing that water.  She 
agreed with setting up some type of billing system considering those companies located 
in the City versus the companies located in the County. 
 
Mayor Turner complimented Mrs. Anna Brady for helping in placing another piece of 
property on the National Registry (letter on file in the Clerk’s office).   
 
Mayor Turner reminded the public that their next meeting would be April 17th at 9:30 
a.m.  She wished everyone a Happy Easter. 
 

B. Vice Mayor Craig Fletcher’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mr. Fletcher attended the Italian American Club’s annual installation banquet and swore 
in their new officers.  He also attended the annual Easter egg hunt and mentioned who the 
sponsors were for that event. 
 



Page 17  CC4/3/12 
 

Mr. Fletcher reported that Mr. Coment had some changes to his contract that he wished to 
include. He met with Mr. Coment and they now have a clean contract, which will be 
discussed by Council at their next meeting.   
 
Mr. Fletcher felt that they needed to put out a policy statement about using public Parks 
for radio control aircraft.  He said that this is a dangerous hobby unless it is tightly 
controlled and there is a huge liability issue.  He belongs to a Club who flies these 
airplanes and that is how the members of the club are insured.  He said that there are a lot 
of rules that they must abide by and he reiterated it is a very controlled issue.  He said 
that it would be impossible to have control at Riverside Park to allow this to take place 
there.  They would have to have a fenced area for the aircraft just to keep other people 
away from it.  He is leaning towards excluding any public aircraft from public Parks. 
 
Mr. Brian Conway, Captain for the Vero Beach Police Department, added that if Council 
would pass an Ordinance excluding any public aircraft from public Parks, then the Police 
Department would be able to enforce it. 
 
Mayor Turner was astounded by the size of these model airplanes that they were talking 
about. 
 
Captain Conway explained that if you were going to allow this then it would have to be 
in a designated area. 
 
Mr. Fletcher asked Council if they wanted to instruct the City Attorney to draw up an 
Ordinance and have it go before the Recreation Commission and then come back to them.  
 
Mrs. Carroll wondered about utilizing a specific portion of land at the Airport for this 
type of activity. 
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that the issue is control.  He said areas remote from population 
is where this should take place. 
 
Mr. Fletcher added that there is a facility in the County where the public can go to.   
 
Mr. O’Connor will make sure that this item is taken before the Recreation Commission. 
 
Mr. Fletcher instructed the City Attorney to draft an Ordinance. 
 

C. Councilmember Tracy Carroll’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mrs. Carroll acknowledged the newly formed group “Friends of the Park” and said that 
Council welcomes their ideas and recommendations.  The City has instituted the tobacco 
free zones within their local playgrounds.  She announced that Indian River State College 



Page 18  CC4/3/12 
 

is expanding their Bachelor program.  The Chamber of Commerce has a lot of events 
going on this spring and they announced that the tourism bed tax was up substantially.  
Also, the Chamber of Commerce is seeking nominees for Industry Appreciation Awards.  
She commented on what a great baseball game the Marlins versus the Mets turned out to 
be and it was wonderful to see baseball back in Vero Beach. 
 

D. Councilmember Jay Kramer’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mr. Kramer agreed with Mrs. Carroll that the baseball game was great and everyone 
enjoyed it.  He also attended the 53rd annual Easter egg hunt.   
 
Mayor Turner noted that Mr. Kramer set ad valorem taxes as a legislative priority item 
for the Treasure Coast Council of Local Governments.  She asked him to explain that. 
 
Mr. Kramer commented that they have been on the defensive side for a lot of time.  By 
going to the offensive side they are attracting new businesses to the State.  He is trying to 
stabilize the downward trend of ad valorem taxes going down. 
 

E. Councilmember Richard Winger’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mr. Winger reported on Amtrak.  He said that there are three proposed railroad programs 
in Florida and two of those programs are on the East coast. He said that one would be run 
by Florida East Coast Industries and would be a high speed railway.  He said bottom line 
is that Amtrak is updating their ridership and revenue numbers and probably will move 
forward.  They would like to see the eight cities involved in doing some preparation 
work.  He said that Stuart is putting in a Regional Transportation Center.  He is going to 
contact the County Commissioner who has been involved with Amtrak to get his input.  
He said that there will probably be another demonstration train ride taking place within 
the next three months.  He expressed that this is being worked on, but no one knows 
where it is going to end up. 
 
11.        ADJOURNMENT 
 
Today’s meeting adjourned at 11:39 a.m. 
 
/tv         


